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Present: The Honorable DOLLY M. GEE, UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 

VALENCIA VALLERY NOT REPORTED 
Deputy Clerk Court Reporter 

Attorneys Present for Plaintiff(s) Attorneys Present for Defendant(s) 
None Present None Present 

Proceedings: ORDER RE DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO DISMISS AND MOTION FOR 
SANCTIONS [DOC. ## 20,22] 

I. 
INTRODUCTION 

Plaintiffs commenced this action by filing in camera and under seal a qui tarn Complaint 
on September 18, 2012. [Doc. # 1.] Although the case caption names only RBC Four Co. LLC 
as a relator Plaintiff, the Complaint itself identifies William Dunlap and Doris J. Nichols as 
Plaintiffs as well. (Compl. ^ 1-2.) The Complaint seeks damages from Defendants The Wait 
Disney Company, a/k/a Walt Disney Productions; Disney Enterprises, Inc.; Disney Worldwide 
Services, Inc.; and Disney Core Services (collectively, "Disney") for (1) violation of the False 
Claims Act ("FCA"), 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(G), qui tarn; (2) violation of the Comprehensive 
Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act ("CERCLA"), 42 U.S.C. § 9601 et 
seq.; and (3) violation of the Clean Water Act ("CWA"), 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a). 

Plaintiffs served the United States Government in September and October 2012. [Doc. 
## 5-8.] Pursuant to stipulation, the action remained under seal until March 29, 2013. [See Doc. 
# 13.] On that date, Hon. John A. Kronstadt, the United States District Judge then assigned to 
this case, ordered the seal lifted following notice that the United States of America elected to 
decline intervention in the case. {Id.) The case was thereafter transferred to this Court's docket 
after Disney filed a Notice of Related Case [Doc. # 16], indicating that the case is related to an 
action pending before this Court, captioned Environmental World Watch, Inc. v. The Walt Disney 
Company, et al. Case No. 2:09-cv-04045 DMG (PLAx). Defendants filed a motion to dismiss 
on June 7, 2013 [Doc. # 20] and a motion for sanctions on June 19, 2013 [Doc. # 22]. The Court 
held a hearing on both motions on August 2, 2013. 
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11. 
FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

The facts alleged in the Complaint are taken as true solely for the purpose of resolving 
the present Motion to Dismiss. Plaintiffs allege that, since at least 1991, Disney has engaged in 
the dumping and disposal of dangerous chemicals, including Chromium VI ("Cr. VI"), into water 
in the area surrounding its Studio Lot in Burbank, California ("the Studio Lot"). {See Compl. 
\ 6.) In 1991, the Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") sent Disney a "Demand Order" for 
information regarding the contamination of a "Superfund Site" in the San Fernando Valley. {Id. 
\ 18.) According to Plaintiffs, Disney responded to this information request with "misleading 
statements and/or documents that had been altered to conceal material information." {Id. \ 19.) 
Disney allegedly unlawfully continued to use Cr. VI in its heating and cooling operations at the 
Studio Lot despite EPA's ongoing investigation of the presence of that chemical in surrounding 
waters. {Id. at 32.) 

Plaintiffs allege that they conducted testing in 2006, 2009, 2010, and 2011 which shows 
significant levels of pollutants being discharged from the Studio Lot, including discharges of Cr. 
VI from a "secret pipe" that discharges from the Studio Lot to the Los Angeles River.1 {See 
Compl. % 9.) They further allege that Disney has intentionally concealed the damage caused to 
surrounding groundwater by their unlawful discharges. {Id. I I I . ) Plaintiff Dunlap provided this 
data to the Regional Water Quality Control Board of Los Angeles ("RWQCB") in September 
2010. (Mf lO. ) 

According to Plaintiffs, Disney denies that it has ever discharged any chemicals from this 
"secret pipe," along with other fraudulent concealments as to its liability for damage to adjacent 
properties and its obligations under local and federal laws. {See Compl. % 42.) 

III. 
DISCUSSION 

A. Motion to Dismiss Under Rule 12(b)(6) 

Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6), a defendant may seek dismissal of 
a complaint for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. Fed. R. Civ. P. 

1 The Complaint also alleges that Disney discharges antimony, arsenic, copper, chromium, lead, "TCE," 
"PCE," zinc, and total organic carbon ("TOC") without permits in violation of the Clean Water Act ("CWA"), Cal. 
Health & Safety Code § 25249.5 et seq., and the California Water Code. (Compl. 123.) 
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12(b)(6). A court may grant such a dismissal only where the plaintiff fails to present a 
cognizable legal theory or to allege sufficient facts to support a cognizable legal theory. 
Mendiondo v. Centinela Hosp. Med. Ctr., 521 F.3d 1097, 1104 (9th Cir. 2008). To survive a 
Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, a complaint must contain "more than labels and conclusions" or 
"a formulaic recitation of the elements of a cause of action." Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 
U.S. 544, 555, 127 S. Ct. 1955, 1964, 167 L. Ed. 2d 929 (2007); see also Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 
U.S. 662, 129 S. Ct. 1937, 1949, 173 L. Ed. 2d 868 (2009) ("Rule 8 . . . does not require detailed 
factual allegations, but it demands more than an unadorned, the-defendant-unlawfully-harmed-
me accusation.") (internal citation omitted). In evaluating the sufficiency of a complaint, courts 
must accept all factual allegations as true. Legal conclusions, in contrast, are not entitled to the 
assumption of truth. See Ashcroft, 556 U.S. at 678 (citing Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555). 

1. Plaintiffs' Cause of Action under Under 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a¥n(G) 

An action for a "reverse false claim" seeks to rectify attempts to wrongfully avoid 
payment of obligations to the Government. See 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(G). Any person who 
"knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, a false record or statement material to an 
obligation to pay or transmit money or property to the Government, or knowingly conceals or 
knowingly and improperly avoids or decreases an obligation to pay or transmit money or 
property to the Government," is liable to the Government for civil penalties and treble damages. 
Id. Added to the FCA in 2009, the reverse false claim provision "attempts to provide that 
fraudulently reducing the amount owed to the government constitutes a false claim."2 Cafasso, 
U.S. ex rel. v. Gen. Dynamics C4 Sys., Inc., 637 F.3d 1047, 1056 (9th Cir. 2011) (quoting 1 John 
T. Boese, Civil False Claims & Qui Tam Actions, § 2.01 [K] at 2-56 (3d ed. 2010)). 

The 2009 amendments define "obligation" as "an established duty, whether or not fixed, 
arising from an express or implied contractual, grantor-grantee, or licensor-licensee relationship, 
from a fee-based or similar relationship, from statute or regulation, or from the retention of any 
overpayment. 31 U.S.C. § 3729(b)(3). To state a claim under Section 3729(a)(1)(G), a plaintiff 
must meet the heightened pleading standard of Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b) that applies to claims 
sounding in fraud. Cafasso, 637 F.3d at 1057. 

2 The FCA was amended in 2009 by the Fraud Enforcement Recovery Act ("FERA"), PL 111-21, 123 Stat. 
167 (2009). The Court notes that the 2009 amendments took effect on the date of enactment, May 20, 2009, and 
apply "to conduct on or after the date of enactment." Id. § 4. 
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a. The Complaint Does Not Identify any "Obligation" Within the 
Meaning of the FCA 

The Complaint repeatedly refers to "obligations" that Disney has allegedly sought to 
avoid over the past two decades, but it fails to identify with specificity any obligation that would 
fall within the FCA's definition of that term. {See Compl. | 41 ("This negligent conduct is now 
compounded by DEFENDANTS continuing to conceal their previous conduct in 2010 and now, 
in 2010, to avoid or conceal their previous obligations."y, \ 52 (alleging that Disney's 2011 
"work plan" "contained numerous false representations to . . . avoid an obligation under the 
[FCA]."); f 66 (alleging that Disney concealed information about the use of Cr. VI in cooling 
towers "to avoid an obligation.").) Although the Complaint describes in detail Plaintiffs' 
investigation and reporting of Disney's alleged violations of environmental laws, it is devoid of 
any facts showing a particular legal obligation that Disney avoided by making allegedly false 
representations to the Government. At oral argument, Plaintiffs conceded that the Complaint 
does not adequately identify an obligation under the FCA. 

In light of this absence of specificity, the Complaint on its face fails to state a claim for a 
violation of Section 3729(a)(1)(G). See Kearns v. Ford Motor Co., 567 F.3d 1120, 1124 (9th 
Cir. 2009) (explaining that Rule 9(b) "demands that the circumstances constituting the alleged 
fraud "be 'specific enough to give defendants notice of the particular misconduct... so that they 
can defend against the charge and not just deny that they have done anything wrong'") (quoting 
Bly-Magee v. Cal, 236 F.3d 1014, 1019 (9th Cir.2001)). Accordingly, Plaintiffs' First Cause of 
Action is DISMISSED. 

b. Amendment Would be Futile Because the "Obligations" Identified in 
Plaintiffs' Opposition and at Oral Argument Are Not "Obligations" 
Under the FCA 

When a court dismisses a claim, it must also decide whether to grant leave to amend. 
"Courts are free to grant a party leave to amend whenever 'justice so requires,' Fed. R. Civ. P. 
15(a), and requests for leave should be granted with 'extreme liberality.'" Moss v. U.S. Secret 
Serv., 572 F.3d 962, 972 (9th Cir. 2009) (quoting Owens v. Kaiser Found. Health Plan, Inc., 244 
F.3d 708, 712 (9th Cir. 2001)). A court should not deny leave to amend unless the court 
"determines that the pleading could not possibly be cured by the allegation of other facts." 
Knappenberger v. City of Phoenix, 566 F.3d 936, 942 (9th Cir. 2009) (internal quotation marks 
omitted; quoting Lopez v. Smith, 203 F.3d 1122, 1127 (9th Cir. 2000) {en banc)). 
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i. "Obligations" Identified in Plaintiffs Opposition 

In their opposition. Plaintiffs argue that Disney's "obligation" arises out of a demand 
letter, dated October 12, 1995, sent by the EPA to Disney's Vice President regarding the 
Superfund Site ("1995 Demand Letter").3 {See PL's Req. for Judicial Notice ("RJN"), Ex. 1 
[Doc. # 30].) The 1995 Demand Letter identifies Disney as "potentially responsible" for 
contamination at the Superfund Site.4 {Id.) The Letter further states that the EPA identified a 
number of "Potentially Responsible Parties ('PRPs')" and invited Disney to participate in 
negotiations with the EPA and all PRPs to reach an agreement on how to pay for clean-up costs 
at the site. {Id.) Although the Letter identifies $21,743,970 in clean-up costs, it does not demand 
that or any other specific amount from Disney. {Id.) 

Plaintiffs point to a report by the Congressional Research Service ("CRS"), published on 
August 6, 2009, entitled Qui Tam: The False Claims Act and Related Federal Statutes, and the 
Senate Report cited therein.5 (Pis.' RJN, Ex. 6.) According to the CRS report, the 2009 
amendments resulted in the "enlargement of the reverse false claims offense to cover not only 
false statements but any improper avoidance." {Id. at 8 (citing 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(G).) The 
report explains that the 2009 amendments added a definition of "obligation," previously absent 

3 Both parties ask the Court to take judicial notice of certain documents, including letters. Congressional 
documents, EPA documents, and court records. [See Doc. ##21 , 30-38, 47.] Under Fed. R. Evid. 201, the Court 
may take judicial notice of facts not subject to reasonable dispute that are generally known within the jurisdiction or 
"can be accurately and readily determined from sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned." As not 
all of the documents in the parties' requests are subject to judicial notice, the Court addresses the evidence as 
necessary. The 1995 Demand Letter is a matter of public record and its contents are not disputed by the parties. 
The Court takes judicial notice of the existence and content of the Letter, but not of the truth of the matters asserted 
therein. In addition, the court documents submitted in Defendants' RJN and Supplemental RJN [Doc. ## 21, 45] are 
subject to judicial notice as their existence is not subject to reasonable dispute. See Lee v. City of Los Angeles, 250 
F.3d668, 690 (9th Cir. 2001). 

4 The 1995 Demand Letter is not referenced in the Complaint and therefore cannot be incorporated therein 
or considered in resolving this Motion to Dismiss. See United States v. Corinthian Cottages, 655 F.3d 984, 999 (9th 
Cir. 2011) (allowing courts to consider evidence on which the complaint "necessarily relies" if the complaint "refers 
to the document," the document is "central to the plaintiffs claim," and no party questions its authenticity). 
Nevertheless, the Court considers it as an alternative basis to determine whether leave to amend is appropriate. As 
discussed, infra, even if the Court were to consider this document, it would still not give rise to an "obligation" as 
defined under the FCA. 

5 Plaintiffs request that the Court take judicial notice of this CRS report. The request is granted because 
this report is a government publication and a matter of public record. See In re American Appareal, Inc. 
Shareholder Litig, 855 F. Supp. 2d 1043, 1061 (CD. Cal. 2012). 
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from the FCA, to resolve discord among the courts as to the types of relationships and duties that 
would give rise to an "obligation" under the FCA. {Id. at 15.) According to the Senate Report 
on the Fraud Enforcement Recovery Act ("FERA"), the term "obligation" "includes fixed and 
contingent duties owed to the Government-including fixed liquidated obligations such as 
judgments, and fixed, unliquidated obligations such as tariffs on imported goods." S. Rep. No. 
10, S. REP. 111-10, 14. The new section reflects Congress' view that "an 'obligation' arises 
across the spectrum of possibilities from the fixed amount debt obligation where all particulars 
are defined to the instance where there is a relationship between the Government and a person 
that results in a duty to pay the Government money, whether or not the amount owed is yet 
fixed." Id. (internal quotation marks omitted). 

While Plaintiffs are correct that the definition of "obligation" was apparently intended to 
apply more broadly than to fixed financial obligations such as those arising under contract, the 
definition does not extend to potential liability as Plaintiffs propose. See United States v. 
Bourseau, 531 F.3d 1159, 1169 (9th Cir. 2008) ("The obligation cannot be merely a potential 
liability: instead, in order to be subject to the penalties of the [FCA], a defendant must have had 
a present duty to pay money or property that was created by a statute, regulation, contract, 
judgment, or acknowledgment of indebtedness.") (quoting Am. Textile Mfrs. Inst., Inc. v. The 
Limited, Inc., 190 F.3d 729, 735 (6th Cir. 1999)). The 1995 Demand Letter merely identifies 
Disney's potential liability, along with that of the other PRPs, to contribute to clean-up costs. It 
does not demand any sum from Disney, but rather invites Disney to voluntarily participate in 
negotiations to arrange for clean-up of the Superfund Site. Under Bourseau and the plain 
meaning of "obligation" in the FCA, the 1995 Demand Letter does not create an "obligation" 
that may serve as the basis for a reverse false claim action. 

Plaintiffs also argue that because the 2009 definition of "obligation" includes obligations 
"arising from statute or regulation," Disney's violations of the CWA and CERCLA give rise to 
FCA liability as well. (Opp'n at 10.) In support of this argument. Plaintiffs rely on Pickens v. 
Kanawha River Towing, 916 F. Supp. 702, 705 (S.D. Ohio 1996) and U.S. ex rel. Stevens v. 
McGinnis, Inc., Case No. C-1-93-442, 1994 WL 799421 (S.D. Ohio Oct. 26, 1994).7 In both 

6 Contrary to Plaintiffs' argument, Bourseau's requirement that the obligation be certain and not merely 
potential remains good law after the 2009 amendments. Nothing in the definition of "obligation" or the Senate 
Report discussing the 2009 amendments suggests that Congress intended to include hypothetical future debts within 
the definition of "obligation." 

7 The Sixth Circuit later disagreed with Pickens and Stevens in Am. Textile Mfrs. Inst., Inc., the case on 
which the Ninth Circuit relied heavily in Bourseau. Thus, even if those cases were analogous to this case, they 
would have no persuasive value in the Ninth Circuit in light of Bourseau. 
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Pickens and Stevens, however, the defendants had entered into contracts with the Government 
that contained specific clauses obligating them to comply with the CWA or face penalties under 
the contract. See Pickens, 916 F. Supp. at 705; Stevens, 1994 WL 799421 at *3. Aside from the 
obvious problem that the Complaint fails to allege any finding that Disney has violated CWA 
and CERCLA, Plaintiffs cite no case law to suggest that the violation of statutes like the CWA 
and CERCLA, which contain their own enforcement schemes, would also give rise to a FCA 
claim absent some contract or other special relationship between the defendant and the 
Government. Here, Plaintiffs do not allege any final judgment of statutory liability, contractual 
relationship, or other relationship that would render any violation of these environmental statutes 
independently actionable under the FCA. 

Second, to the extent Plaintiffs attempt to argue that any "obligation" arose out of EPA 
"Demand Orders" sent to Disney pursuant to CERCLA § 104(e), 42 U.S.C. § 9604(e), such 
orders cannot create an "obligation" as defined under the FCA. {See Compl. til 18, 19.) The 
FCA clearly limits reverse false claims to attempts to avoid "an obligation to pay or transmit 
money or property to the Government." 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(G) (emphasis added). Section 
104(e) authorizes Government authorities to demand information to aid in the investigation of 
possible release of hazardous substance, pollutant, or contaminant into the environment. It does 
not authorize demands for payment of money or property, and indeed Plaintiffs do not assert 
otherwise. This alternative basis for finding that Disney owed any "obligation" to the 
Government also fails. 

ii. "Obligation" Raised at Oral Argument 

Finally, at oral argument. Plaintiffs asserted—for the first time—that a 2000 Consent 
Decree imposed an "obligation" against Disney cognizable under the FCA.8 In conjunction with 
its Reply Brief, Disney filed portions of a 2000 Consent Decree issued on May 16, 2000 in the 
case captioned United States of America ex rel. Cal. Dep 't of Toxic Substances Control v. ITT 
Industries, Inc., et al. Case No. CV 99-00552 MRP (ANx). {See Def. Suppl. RJN, Ex. C.) The 
Consent Decree is the resolution of the Government's invitation to negotiate set forth in the 1995 
Demand Letter, and it bound Disney, along with several dozen other defendants, to certain 
requirements related to the clean-up of the Superfund Site. {See id. % I.C.) Of particular 

8 Plaintiffs do not discuss the Consent Decree in their Complaint or in their Opposition. In fact, according 
to Defendants, the Consent Decree was not even raised as a basis for the FCA claim in one of Plaintiffs' state qui 
tam actions. State of Cal, et al. v. The Walt Disney Co., et al. Case No. BC461157, which was was dismissed 
without leave to amend after the court sustained defendants' demurrer. (Def. RJN, Ex. 4.) The Court is not required 
to consider this "Hail Mary" attempt to save the Complaint, but it does so only to determine whether leave to amend 
is appropriate. 
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relevance to this Court are two requirements under the Consent Decree. First, Disney and the 
other defendants agreed to pay to the EPA Hazardous Substance Superfund certain amounts "in 
full and complete settlement of any claim for Past Response Costs" within 30 days of entry of 
the Consent Decree. {Id. \ 54.) Second, Disney and the other defendants agreed to pay all 
"Future Response Costs" to federal and state agencies "within 60 (sixty) days of. . . receipt of 
[each] bill." {Id. %% 55, 57.) 

To the Court's knowledge, only one court has previously addressed whether a consent 
decree may give rise to an "obligation" under the FCA. See Hoyte v. Am. Nat'I Red Cross, 439 
F. Supp. 2d 38, 43 (D.D.C. 2006). In Hoyte, the court had approved a consent decree between 
the Government and the Red Cross which required the Red Cross to comply with certain 
standards for the handling of blood. Id. at 40. The consent decree gave the Food and Drug 
Administration ("FDA") authority to impose sanctions if the Red Cross failed to comply with 
these standards. Id. The plaintiff, a former employee of the Red Cross, brought a FCA reverse 
false claim action, arguing that failure to comply with the consent decree imposed "obligations" 
under the FCA. Id. at 43. The court rejected this argument, explaining that an "obligation" must 
be a "present, existing debt or liability," not a "future or contingent" one. Id. (citing Am. Textile 
Mfrs. Inst., Inc., 190 F.3d at 736). The possibility of sanctions under the consent decree, left to 
the discretion of the FDA, did not constitute an "obligation" under the FCA. Id. at 44. 

In this case, the only obligation imposed with certainty by the Consent Decree was for 
reimbursement of past response costs. Plaintiffs did not assert that Disney failed to make this 
payment—indeed, the payment was required and occurred within 30 days of May 16, 2000, more 
than a decade ago. Like the potential sanctions in Hoyte, Disney's remaining obligations under 
the Consent Decree are contingent: Disney is obligated to pay future response costs insofar as 
they are billed by a participating federal or state agency. The Consent Decree itself, then, does 
not impose any "present, existing debt or liability" that has not likely already been satisfied. See 
Bourseau, 531 F.3d at 1169; Hoyte, 439 F. Supp. 2d at 44. 

Not only does the Complaint fail to identify any "obligation," but the alternative theories 
offered in Plaintiffs' Opposition and, at the last minute, during oral argument, also do not 
demonstrate that Defendants had any financial obligation to the Government as required under 
31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(G). It therefore appears that any amendment to the FCA claim would be 

9 Plaintiffs did not allege at argument that Disney has failed to pay any subsequent bills remitted to it by the 
participating agencies. Moreover, to the extent Plaintiffs allege that Disney made false statements in order to reduce 
its proportion of the amounts demanded in the 1995 Demand Letter, this argument fails. As discussed above, the 
Demand Letter itself did not create any "obligation" that Disney could have attempted to avoid or reduce because it 
was merely an invitation to negotiate. 
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futile. See, e.g., Serra v. Lappin, 600 F.3d 1191, 1200 (9th Cir. 2010). Accordingly, the First 
Cause of Action is DISMISSED without leave to amend. 

2. Plaintiffs' Claims Under CERCLA and the CWA Also Fail 

Plaintiffs' second and third causes of action are under CERCLA § 104(e)(5), 42 U.S.C. § 
9604(e)(5), and CWA § 301(a), 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a). As discussed above, CERCLA § 104(e)(5) 
allows Government officials to issue orders directing compliance with a request for information, 
access, or inspection of facilities to prevent the release of hazardous substances into the 
environment. Under the plain language of this statute, only Government officials have authority 
to enforce compliance with CERCLA information requests. 42 U.S.C. § 9604(e)(5) ("If consent 
is not granted regarding any request made by an officer, employee, or representative under 
paragraph (2), (3), or (4), the President may issue an order directing compliance with the 
request.") (emphasis added). Thus, Plaintiffs may not maintain a civil action under Section 
9604(e)(5) to compel Disney's compliance with an EPA order. 

Instead, CERCLA allows private citizens to bring civil actions under 42 U.S.C. § 9659 
against "any person . . . who is alleged to be in violation of any standard, condition, requirement, 
or order" under CERCLA. This citizen suit provision, however, is subject to the requirement 
that "[n]o action may be commenced . . . before 60 days after the plaintiff has given notice of the 
violation to . . . (A) the President. (B) The State in which the alleged violation occurs. (C) Any 
alleged violator of the standard, regulation, requirement, or order concerned." 42 U.S.C. § 
9659(d)(1). Similarly, the CWA allows private citizens to enforce its provisions under 33 U.S.C. 
§ 1365. Suits under this section may only be brought 60 days after notice has been provided "(i) 
to the Administrator, (ii) to the State in which the alleged violation occurs, and (iii) to any 
alleged violator of the standard, limitation, or order." 

The Complaint does not allege, and Plaintiffs do not attempt to assert, that Plaintiffs 
provided notice to any of the parties as required under the notice provisions of CERCLA or the 
CWA. Compliance with these notice provisions is "a mandatory, not optional, condition 
precedent for suit," and therefore failure to provide notice must result in dismissal. Ctr. for 
Biological Diversity v. Marina Point Development Co., 566 F.3d 794, 800 (9th Cir. 2008) 
(holding that a district court must dismiss a CWA action where the notice requirement has not 
been met); see also Hallstrom v. Tillamook Cnty., 493 U.S. 20, 23 n.l, 33, 110 S. Ct. 304, 312, 
107 L. Ed. 2d 237 (1989) (explaining that the 60-day notice requirement of the Resource 
Conservation and Recovery Act ("RCRA") is a mandatory precondition to suit, and stating that 
CERCLA's notice provision is modeled after that of the RCRA); Frost v. Perry, 919 F. Supp. 
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1459, 1469 (D. Nev. 1996) (dismissing CERCLA claims for failure to comply with the 60-day 
notice requirement). To the extent Plaintiffs wish to maintain independent claims against Disney 
for failure to comply with provisions of CERCLA and the CWA, their claims are DISMISSED 
without leave to amend because they have failed to comply with the 60-day notice requirement. 
See 42 U.S.C. § 9659(d)(1); 33 U.S.C. § 1365. 

In their opposition, Plaintiffs argue that their CERCLA and CWA claims are alternative 
bases for their FCA claim based on "the same set of false statements, altered documents, and 
concealments . . . to avoid their financial obligations under CERCLA" and liability under the 
CWA. (Opp'n at 14-15.) As discussed above. Plaintiffs' FCA claim fails because they cannot 
identify any "obligation" as defined in the FCA that Disney attempted to avoid by making false 
statements to the Government. The CWA and CERCLA claims, to the extent they underlie the 
FCA claim, fail for the same reason. 

B. Motion for Sanctions10 

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 11 requires that an attorney who presents a pleading to 
the Court certify that, inter alia, "it is not being presented for an improper purpose" and "the 
claims, defenses, and other legal contentions are warranted by existing law or by a nonfrivolous 
argument for extending, modifying, or reversing existing law or for establishing new law." Fed. 
R. Civ. P. 11(b). An "attorney has a duty prior to filing a complaint not only to conduct a 
reasonable factual investigation, but also to perform adequate legal research." Christian v. 
Mattel, Inc., 286 F.3d 1118, 1127 (9th Cir. 2002). "If, after notice and a reasonable opportunity 
to respond, the court determines that Rule 11(b) has been violated, the court may impose an 
appropriate sanction on any attorney, law firm, or party that violated the rule or is responsible for 
the violation." Fed. R. Civ. P. 11(c)(1). Where, as here, the complaint is the primary focus of 
Rule 11 proceedings, a district court must conduct a two-prong inquiry to determine (1) whether 
the complaint is legally or factually "baseless" from an objective perspective, and (2) if the 
attorney has conducted "a reasonable and competent inquiry" before signing and filing it. See 
Holgate v.Baldwin, 425 F.3d 671, 676 {9thCir. 2005). 

10 Disney provided Plaintiffs with notice of its intent to seek Rule 11 sanctions in a letter dated May 13, 
2013. (Decl. of Garrett L. Jansma H 29, Ex. 27 [Doc. # 23-27].) Plaintiffs' response of May 16, 2013 merely states 
that Plaintiffs disagree with Disney's interpretation of the Complaint. {Id. U 30, Ex. 28.) 
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1. A Sanction of Attorney's Fees is Warranted 

It is the Court's view that Plaintiffs' claims are legally baseless from an objective 
perspective and cannot have been the product of competent inquiry. As discussed above, none of 
the claims alleged in the Complaint are viable under settled law. Plaintiffs attempt to retool the 
nature of their claims in their Opposition, and belatedly during oral argument, in an effort to save 
them, but even these new arguments fail to create a colorable basis for an action against Disney. 
Plaintiffs characterize the law of "reverse false claims" under the FCA as "unsettled," but in fact 
the opposite is true: even the 2009 amendments, which created the reverse false claim provision 
and set a definition of "obligation," did not disturb the long-settled rule that "obligations" under 
the FCA include only actual, legally enforceable financial obligations to the Government, not 
potential obligations yet to be discovered, asserted, or imposed. See Bourseau, 531 F.3d at 1169; 
Am. Textile Mfrs. Inst., Inc., 190 F.3d at 735; see also United States v. Q Int'l Courier, Inc., 131 
F.3d 770, 773 (8th Cir. 1997). The legislative history and case law cited by Plaintiffs in no way 
support their contention that the term "obligation" can apply, as in this case, to potential, 
unproven violations of environmental statutes. 

Moreover, this action is the fourth qui tam action that RBC Four Co. or its affiliates have 
apparently filed against Disney, and it is one of 12 total actions they have filed against Disney 
since 2007. All of the actions have apparently arisen out of the same or similar facts, and several 
have been dismissed with prejudice. ' The most recent qui tam action, California ex rel. RBC 
Four Co. v. The Walt Disney Co., Case No. BC461157 (L.A. Sup. Ct.), was dismissed without 
prejudice in November 2012. {See Def. RJN, Ex. 3.) In addition. Plaintiffs' counsel was 
formerly involved in the action pending before this Court, Environmental World Watch, Inc. v. 
The Walt Disney Company, et al. Case No. 2:09-cv-04045 DMG (PLAx), as well as three other 
actions in state court. {See Jansma Decl. \ 25, Ex. 24.) The long history of Plaintiffs' litigation 
efforts against Disney is strong evidence that counsel knew that the claims asserted in the 
Complaint had already been dismissed by other courts and were not likely to succeed. 

Equally troubling is Plaintiffs' failure to file a notice of related cases as required under 
CD. Cal. L.R. 83-1.3.1, despite both Plaintiffs' and counsel's knowledge of the EWW case 
pending before this Court. Plaintiffs Dunlap and Nichols, although not named Plaintiffs in the 
EWW action, have been involved in that case at various stages of litigation and were the subject 
of a motion for sanctions—there is no question that they were aware of that case's pendency and 
the overlapping issues in both cases. Moreover, although Plaintiffs attempt to recast their 

1' All but three cases, including the present case, have been dismissed either voluntarily or involuntarily. 
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CERCLA and CWA claims as "derivative" of their FCA claim, the fact remains that the 
Complaint asserts claims under those statutes despite the fact that Plaintiffs failed to provide the 
required 60-day notice. The CWA claim is duplicative of the claims alleged in the EWW action 
pending before this Court, and therefore Plaintiffs and their counsel were inarguably aware of the 
notice requirement and yet failed to comply with it. This blatant violation of the Local Rules 
suggests that Plaintiffs intended to "judge shop" by having their qui tam case heard by a judge 
unfamiliar with the related action. 

In light of these considerations, the Court finds that counsel violated Rule 11(b) by filing 
the Complaint in this action. Accordingly, Plaintiffs' counsel are ordered to pay Disney 
reasonable attorney's fees and costs expended in defense of this action. In its Proposed Order, 
Disney asserts that it has incurred "in excess of $10,000 in reasonable attorney's fees and $300 
in costs" as a result of Plaintiffs' conduct, but Disney provides no evidence to support this 
amount. Accordingly, Disney shall file a supplemental declaration in support of its request for 
reasonable attorney's fees and costs. 

2. Additional Sanctions Are Unnecessary at This Time 

Disney also requests that additional sanctions be imposed against Plaintiffs and their 
counsel because the action was brought for improper purposes and in bad faith, in violation of 
Rule 11(b)(1). In addition to monetary sanctions, Disney requests that the Court designate 
Plaintiffs as "vexatious litigants" and require them to seek leave of court before filing any future 
actions. Under the All Writs Act, 28 U.S.C. § 1651(a), district courts "have inherent power to 
file restrictive pre-filing orders against vexatious litigants with abusive and lengthy histories of 
litigation." Molski v. Rapazzini Winery, 400 F. Supp. 2d 1208, 1209 (N.D. Cal. 2005) (citing 
Weissman v. Quail Lodge Inc., 179 F.3d 1194, 1197 (9th Cir. 1999)). Such pre-filing orders are 
an "extreme remedy that should rarely be used." Molski v. Evergreen Dynasty Corp., 500 F.3d 
1047, 1057 (9th Cir. 2007). Before entering such an order, courts must consider four factors: (1) 
the litigant must be given notice and a chance to be heard before the order is entered; (2) the 
court must compile an adequate record for review; (2) the court must make substantive findings 
about the frivolous or harassing nature of the party's litigation; and (4) the vexatious litigant 
order "must be narrowly tailored to closely fit the specific vice encountered." De Long v. 
Hennessey, 912 F.2d 1144, 1147-1148 (9th Cir. 1990). 

By this Order, the Court will dismiss Plaintiffs' claims without leave to amend and 
impose sanctions to reimburse Disney for its fees and costs in defending the suit. Although the 
record reflects that Plaintiffs and their affiliates have engaged in a pattern of duplicative and 
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excessive litigation tactics against Disney, the Court finds that imposition of additional sanctions, 
including a vexatious litigant pre-filing order, is unwarranted at this time. The record may 
suggest that this action is part of a larger scheme of bad faith, but the Court cannot make such a 
finding with certainty at this time. 

IV. 
CONCLUSION 

In light of the foregoing, the Court orders the following: 

(1) Disney's Motion to Dismiss is GRANTED in its entirety. The action is 
DISMISSED without leave to amend; 

(2) Disney's Motion for Sanctions is GRANTED. By no later than August 16, 2013, 
Disney shall file proof of its attorney's fees and costs incurred in the defense of 
this action to date. Any response thereto may be filed within seven days after 
service of any supplemental declaration. Thereafter, the Court shall issue an order 
as to the amount of sanctions to be imposed. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

CV-90 CIVIL MINUTES—GENERAL Initials of Deputy Clerk yy 


